1982

State of Utah v. D. John Musselman and Linda Ann Coram : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the denial by the lower court of Defendant's Motion to Set Aside Default and Default Judgment in the Third Judicial District Court, in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, the Honorable G. Hal Taylor presiding.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The Court below entered its order denying the Defendant's Motion to Set Aside Default and Default Judgment.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks a reversal as a matter of law of the denial of the Defendant's Motion to Set Aside Default and Default Judgment and a remand to the lower court for a trial on the merits.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Between April 8, 1977 and May 23, 1978, Linda Ann Coram received various medical treatments and supplies and incurred expenses therefor in the alleged amount of \$82,522.22, which sums were paid on her behalf by the State of Utah pursuant to Section 55-15a-3, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended. In 1978, Mrs. Coram engaged the services of an attorney, D. John Musselman, to represent her in prosecuting a medical malpractice claim against a medical doctor, claiming professional negligence on the part of said doctor and praying

for money damages. During February 1981, Linda Ann Coram's case was settled with the insurance carrier for the doctor in the sum of \$150,000.00. The State of Utah claims the right to recover in subrogation for the amount expended on behalf of Mrs. Coram.

On June 4, 1981, the Plaintiff/Respondent, State of Utah, caused to be served upon the Defendant/Appellant, D. John Musselman a summons and complaint (Record pp. 2-7) praying for judgment in the amount of \$82,522.22 under two separate causes of action. Between June 4, 1981 and June 26, 1981, there were telephone conversations between the Defendant/Appellant and Mr. Leon A. Halgren of the Utah State Attorney General's office with regard to a possible settlement of the State's alleged claim through conciliation and compromise. In the latter part of June 1981, the Defendant/Appellant became suddenly and seriously ill and was admitted on an emergency basis as an inpatient at the Utah Valley Hospital in Provo, Utah under an initial diagnosis of gastro intestinal bleeding. See Appendix A. After approximately one week of diagnostic testing in the hospital, the Defendant/Appellant was released from the Utah Valley Hospital as an inpatient on or about July 4, 1981 but continued under the care and treatment of Kirk R. Anderson, M.D. The Defendant/Appellant was not able to return to work at his office until approximately two weeks after release from the

hospital. See Appendix B. During the week preceding July 14, 1981, the Defendant/Appellant, although still unable to return to work and resume his duties, attempted to contact Leon A. Halgren but was unable to reach Mr. Halgren. The purpose for the attempted contacts was to advise the Plaintiff/Respondent of the sudden illness of the Defendant/Appellant and to obtain sufficient additional time to answer the Plaintiff/Respondent's complaint. On or about July 14, 1981, during the afternoon hours, the Defendant/Appellant did reach Mr. Halgren and was informed that Default had been entered on July 9, 1981 and judgment had been taken earlier that same day, the 14th of July 1981. (Record pp. 8-9).

On or about August 13, 1981, the Defendant/Appellant caused to be filed his Motion to Set Aside Judgment (Record p. 32) supported by his tendered answer to the complaint of the Plaintiff/Respondent (Record pp. 29-31), his Affidavit (Record pp. 26-28), and his Notice of Motion declaring August the 18th, 1981 at the hour of 2:00 p.m. to be the time for hearing on the motion (Record p. 25). On August 18, 1981 at the hour of 2:00 p.m., the Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County, State of Utah, the Honorable G. Hal Taylor presiding, declined to hear the Motion to Set Aside Judgment (Record P. 33). The Motion to Set Aside Judgment was continued and heard on November 3, 1981 at the hour of 2:00 p.m. in the Third Judicial

District Court in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, the Honorable G. Hal Taylor presiding. (Record p. 75). On the same date a hearing was held on an Order to Show Cause of the Plaintiff/Respondent. The reporter's transcript of the proceedings on November 3, 1981 has been designated and filed as part of the Record on Appeal.

During the hearing on the Defendant's Motion to Set Aside Judgment, both sides presented arguments touching on the issue of excusable neglect as it relates to the entry of Default and Default Judgment in this case. After both sides submitted the matter, the trial judge made his ruling as follows:

Well, I've read your proposed answer and I don't think it states any defense. The Motion to Set Aside the default is denied.
(Transcript pp. 20-21)

The formal Order Denying Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment was made and entered on November 18, 1981 by Judge G. Hal Taylor (Record p. 87). The Court entered no specific findings with respect to its denial of Defendant/Appellant's motion. The Defendant/Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal on December 10, 1981. (Record p. 90).

POINT I

DEFENDANT/APPELLANT DEMONSTRATED AN
UNCONTROVERTED SHOWING OF INADVERTENCE AND
EXCUSABLE NEGLIGENCE.

In Rule 60(b)(1), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, this Court has provided as follows:

On motion and upon such terms as are just, the Court may in the furtherance of justice relieve a party or his legal representative from a final judgment, order, or proceeding for the following reasons (1) mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect; . . . The motion shall be made within a reasonable time and for reasons (1), (2), (3), or (4), not more than three months after the judgment, order, or proceeding was entered or taken. . . .

It has been consistently held by this Court that the purpose for Rule 60(b)(1) is to relieve against harshness of enforcing a judgment resulting from procedural difficulties, wrongs of opposing parties, or misfortunes preventing presentation of a claim or a defense. Warren v. Dickson Ranch Co., et. al., 260 P.2d 741, 123 U. 416 (1953). This Court recited in the case of Board of Education of the Granite School District v. Cox, 384 P.2d 806, 14 U. 2d 385 (1963) that the Court "will generally grant relief in doubtful cases so that a party may have a hearing." Cox, supra at 807. The Court went on to say that, "It is an abuse of discretion to refuse to vacate a default judgment where there is reasonable justification for the defendants' failure to appear and answer." While the Court ruled against setting the default aside as to Mrs. Cox, nevertheless, the principles enunciated in Cox are those that must guide the court in the instant case. The Court in Cox did note with approval the setting aside of the default as to Mrs. Cox due to illness. Serious illness is the basis of excusable neglect in the present case. Cox, supra. at 807.

It is a generally established principle of this Court that granting of relief from default judgments is favored "where there is any reasonable excuse, unless it will result in substantial prejudice or injustice to the adverse party." Westinghouse Electric Supply Co. v. Paul W. Larsen Contractors, Inc., 544 P.2d 876, 879 (1975). Emphasis added. Heathman v. Fabian & Clendenin, 377 P.2d 189, 14 U.2d 60 (1962); Utah Commerical & Savings Bank v. Trumbo, 53 P.1033, 17 U. 198 (1898).

In this case, the Defendant/Appellant clearly demonstrated through his affidavit to the district court that his reason for not timely answering the complaint of the Plaintiff/Respondent was his sudden illness and subsequent hospitalization. Non-disabling illness, on its face, may not be sufficient to justify a finding of abuse of discretion on the part of the trial court. However, illness of the disabling and incapacitating nature and severity as is present here, requiring hospitalization for approximately a week certainly constitutes a reasonable excuse for failure to appear and answer at least until a reasonable recovery sufficient to so enable a party. See Appendicies A and B.

It is noteworthy that the trial court made no specific finding as to excusable neglect. The trial court, however, was quite specific in its ruling denying the motion solely on the ground of failing to state a defense. (Transcript pp. 20-21). Indeed, it is therefore implicit in the trial court's ruling that excusable

neglect was shown, in that the Court's denial for Defendant/Appellant's Motion was based on the issue of whether a meritorious defense was stated. The Trial Court would have had no reason to address the issue of a meritorious defense unless it believed excusable neglect had already been established. As stated in Cox, supra. at page 808:

This latter question [that of a meritorious defense] arises only after consideration of the first question [that of excusable neglect] and a sufficient excuse therefrom being shown.

No contradiction whatsoever is contained in the record as to the Defendant/Appellant's statement of fact concerning his serious illness, his hospitalization, and his subsequent recovery. Indeed, there could be none.

In order to reverse the lower court's denial of a motion to set aside default, this Court must find an abuse of discretion. Interstate Excavating, Inc. v. AGLA Development Corp., 611 P.2d 369 (1980); Olsen v. Cummings, 565 P.2d 1123 (1977). The parameters of the lower court's discretion are defined and have long been established. In the early case of Cutler v. Haycock, 90 P. 897, 32 U. 354 (1907) this court set forth those guidelines as follows:

"It is equally elementary that this discretion is to be applied to the facts as they appear in each case, and, in the exercise of this discretion, the aim and object should be the promotion and furtherance of justice and the protection of the rights of all concerned. As has

been well said in all doubtful cases the general rule of courts is to incline towards granting relief from the default, and to bring about a judgment on the merits." Cutler at p. 900, Emphasis added. See also Hurd v. Ford, 276 P. 908 at 912, 74 U. 46 (1928).

"Law and Courts alike abhor a result that condemns a party unheard, and, unless the law unavoidably requires and justice demands it, where a party has not by his own inexcusable neglect deprived himself of the right, the courts should, and will, where equity permits, afford relief, to the end that a party may be given a hearing." Cutler at p. 901, Emphasis added.

This Court has consistently held that the policy of the law is to accord litigants the opportunity for a hearing on the merits where that can be done without serious injustice to the other party. Further where there is doubt about whether a default judgment should be set aside, that doubt should be resolved in favor of doing so. In particular, Olsen, supra at p. 1124 reaffirmed the established rule that "It is uniformly regarded as an abuse of discretion to refuse to vacate a default judgment where there is reasonable justification or excuse for the defendant's failure to appear, and timely application is made to set it aside." Citing Mayhew, infra.

A leading Utah case on the issue of excusable neglect is the case of Mayhew v. Standard Gilsonite Co., 376 P.2d 951, 14 U.2d 52 (1962) wherein the Utah Supreme Court set forth the guiding principals as follows:

It is undoubtedly correct that the trial court is endowed with considerable latitude of discretion in granting or denying such motions. [Motions to set aside default judgments] However, it is also true that the court cannot act arbitrarily in that regard, but should be generally indulgent toward permitting full inquiry and knowledge of disputes so they can be settled advisably and in conformity with law and justice. To clamp a judgment rigidly and irrevocably on a party without a hearing is obviously a harsh and oppressive thing. It is fundamental in our system of justice that each party to a controversy should be afforded an opportunity to present his side of the case. For that reason it is quite uniformly regarded as an abuse of discretion to refuse to vacate a default judgment where there is reasonable justification or excuse for the defendant's failure to appear, and timely application is made to set it aside. Mayhew at p. 952. Emphasis added.

The record firmly establishes justification of the conduct of Defendant/Appellant that clearly constitutes excusable neglect.

POINT II

DEFENDANT/APPELLANT HAS TENDERED A MERITORIOUS DEFENSE AND THE DEFAULT JUDGMENT MUST BE SET ASIDE TO PREVENT CLEAR AND MANIFEST INJUSTICE

This Court has stated, notwithstanding the rule of liberality in granting motions to set aside judgment in appropriate circumstances, as for example when excusable neglect is shown, the moving party should tender a defense of sufficient merit to justify the procedure. Mason v. Mason, 597 P.2d 1322 (1979); Downey State Bank v. Major-Blakeney Corp., et al, 545 P.2d 507 (1976); and Atkinson v. Atkinson, 134 P. 595, 43 U. 53 (1913).

. . . [W]e are in accord generally with the doctrine urged by defendant that the courts should be liberal in granting relief against judgments taken by default to the end that controversies may be tried on the merits. The other side of this coin is that the rights of the party moved against must also be safeguarded and that the courts should not be occupied with the trial of cases unless some useful purpose is to be served thereby. Therefore, notwithstanding the rule of liberality in granting motions to set aside judgments in appropriate circumstances, that should not be done unless the moving party tenders a defense of sufficient merit to justify that procedure. Mason at p. 1323. Emphasis added.

The issue of a meritorious defense arises only after a finding of excusable neglect by the lower court. Cox, supra at 808. While no specific finding is to be found in the record of the trial court nonetheless, excusable neglect can be inferred from the lower court's ruling which was based solely on the issue of whether a meritorious defense was shown. The lower court concluded that no defense was stated. This ruling by the Court is manifest error. The tender of a meritorious defense does not mean the proof thereof. It is only required that a good defense on its face be alleged. Cutler, supra at p. 899.

Defendant/Appellant tendered to the lower court his proposed answer simultaneous with filing his Motion to Set Aside Default and Default Judgment, which tendered answer may be found in the trial court record at pages 29-31. The answer proffered by Defendant/Appellant alleges the following defenses.

1. Pursuant to Section 55-15d-8, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, which provides for recovery of medical assistance payments made by the State, any recovery to which the Plaintiff/Respondent may be entitled is reduced by 25 percent. Plaintiff/Respondent's default judgment was for the full amount of medical assistance payments without the required statutory reduction.

2. The Plaintiff/Respondent failed to comply with the provisions of Section 55-15d-10, and is thus not entitled to any recovery at all. The State failed to file a verified lien statement with the Court in which Linda Coram's medical malpractice action was filed, thus, the State failed to perfect its asserted lien. See Appendix C.

3. The Plaintiff/Respondent failed to comply with other statutory requirements of Title 55, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended, and the Plaintiff/Respondent therefore has no right of recovery.

4. The Plaintiff/Respondent based its right of recovery upon Chapter 55-15d of the Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended, which Chapter had been previously repealed by the 1981 legislature. The effective date of repeal was May 12, 1981, and this date preceded the filing of Plaintiff/Respondent's complaint. The Plaintiff/Respondent will undoubtedly assert that the recovery provisions of

Chapter 55-15d were re-enacted elsewhere in the Utah Code. While this is so, it does not obviate the absolute fact that the complaint on its face failed to state a claim for relief. This Court has implicitly held that where a complaint, on its face, fails to state a claim for relief, a default judgment cannot be permitted to stand. Sovereign v. Meadows, 595 P.2d 852, 854 (1979).

5. The Plaintiff/Respondent has no right of recovery under Title 55, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended, inasmuch as Chapter 55-15d providing for recovery of medical assistance payments was not enacted into law until 1979, which was subsequent to the payment of benefits for and on behalf of Linda Coram, said payments having been made in 1978 and earlier.

6. The Plaintiff/Respondent's recovery, if any, is limited by virtue of the fact that the defendant Linda Coram has not been made whole in spite of the settlement of her lawsuit. Equitable considerations mandate that the Plaintiff/Respondent reduce its alleged claim pursuant to the equitable provisions of Section 55-15d-6 which provides for the reduction of any recovery to prevent "undue hardship upon the person who suffered the injury" for which medical assistance payments were made.

All of the foregoing are real and meritorious defenses and each involves a factual determination as well as application of appropriate law. Each fits the judicial definition of a "meritorious defense" supplied in the case of Beren Corp. v. Spader, 255 N.W.2d 247, 198 Neb. 677, in which a "meritorious defense" was held to be one that is worthy of judicial inquiry because it raises a question of law deserving some investigation and discussion or because a real controversy as to the essential facts exists.

The ruling in the lower court that no defense was stated is clearly without merit and is an obvious abuse of discretion mandating an appeal to the equitable conscience of this Court and requiring a reversal of the order denying the Defendant/Appellant's Motion to Set Aside Default and Default Judgment.

The Plaintiff/Respondent has never attempted service on the Defendant Linda Ann Coram and therefore has never litigated its claims against her. All of the issues and defenses contained in the tendered answer by Defendant/Appellant are also the defenses and claims of the Defendant Linda Ann Coram which are yet to be litigated between her and the Plaintiff/Respondent. The unserved defendant Linda Coram asserts that the subject funds claimed by the State are hers. Should Linda Coram prevail, she would be entitled to the funds.