1981

State of Utah v. D. John Musselman and Linda Ann Coram : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Defendant has appealed from a denial of a motion to set aside a judgment by default in the Third Judicial District Court, in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, the Honorable G. Hal Taylor presiding.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The lower court denied the motion of the defendant-appellant to set aside the default judgment on the grounds that the defendant-appellant's proposed answer failed to state a defense and thereafter entered its order accordingly. The lower court made no finding or ruling on the issue of excusable neglect.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff-respondent seeks a judgment and order affirming the denial of defendant-appellant's motion to set aside the default judgment.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Linda Ann Coram obtained a Medicaid grant from the State of Utah, Department of Social Services, whereby she received the benefit of a total sum of \$82,522.22 paid by the State of Utah to her medical providers all of which payments allegedly resulted from improper treatment by her doctor. She assigned to the State the right to recover as against any liable third party these medical expenses and in 1979 the Utah Legislature enacted the Medical Benefits Recovery Act, Section 55-15d-1 through 17 (re-enacted in 1981 as Section 26-19-1 through 17), Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended. (Complaint and proposed answer.)

Defendant-appellant was retained in 1979 to represent Linda Ann Coram in a malpractice action against the doctor who allegedly caused the need for the Medicaid grant which resulted in a pre-trial settlement of \$150,000.00. Prior to proceeding with the case, defendant-appellant contacted the State of Utah, Office of Recovery Services and inquired as to the State's Medicaid claim of \$82,522.22 and thereafter agreed to collect said sum out of any recovery, taking for his services the statutory 25% contingency fee.

When the case was settled, the insurance carrier issued two settlement drafts; one was in the sum of \$67,477.78; payable to Linda Ann Coram, her husband and D. John Musselman (defendant-appellant); the other was in the sum of \$82,522.22 (the exact amount of the State's Medicaid claim), and was payable to Linda Ann Coram, her husband, D. John Musselman and the State of Utah Office of Recovery Services (emphasis added). Both drafts were issued on February 5, 1981. The draft in the sum of \$82,522.22 shows endorsements as follows: "Linda Ann Corma," "William Dyerl Coram," "D. John Musselman" and "State of Utah Office of Recovery Services by: D. John Musselman its Attorney at Law and in Fact." (Emphasis added). (Affidavit in Opposition of Motion to Set Aside Judgment and Transcript of Hearing of August 18, 1981).

The draft of \$82,522.22, hereinafter called "settlement draft," was deposited by defendant-appellant in Bank Account No. 71-31544-3 in the name of D. John Musselman and Associates at the Central Bank and Trust Company, Riverside Plaza Office, Provo, Utah, on or about March 10, 1981, from which account funds were taken by D. John Musselman and loaned or otherwise used by him. The sum of \$50,000.00 was loaned out of this same bank account to Vernon Herbst of Blackfoot, Idaho, on April 14, 1981, by means of check no. 160, drawn on said Account No. 71-31554-3, whereby said Vernon Herbst executed a promissory note which carried interest at

the rate of 180% per annum (15% per month) and secured the promissory note with a deed of trust in which D. John Musselman was the named beneficiary. The state did not authorize the diverting of its funds obtained from the said settlement draft of \$82,522.22. (Affidavit in Opposition of Motion to Set Aside Judgment and Affidavit on Order to Show Cause).

Numerous letters were written to defendant-appellant, demanding payment to the state of the money recovered in the settlement draft and after many promises to account were not kept, the plaintiff-respondent filed a lawsuit, No. C-81-4425, in the District Court of the Third Judicial District, County of Salt Lake, State of Utah. (Affidavit in Opposition of Motion to Set Aside Judgment).

After defendant-appellant was served summons and copy of said complaint, on June 4, 1981, he promised to account to plaintiff-respondent for said settlement draft funds which promises he failed to keep. On July 6, 1981, defendant-appellant talked on the telephone to a Mr. George Martindale, Investigator for the Office of Recovery Services, and was advised by Mr. Martindale that unless he made an immediate accounting to the State of Utah for the settlement draft funds or file a responsive pleading, the attorney for the State of Utah in Case No. C-81-4425 would have to default him. (Affidavit in Opposition of Motion to Set Aside Judgment).

No communication was ever received from defendant-appellant thereafter and a default certificate was entered on the 9th day of July, 1981, and judgment by default was granted and docketed on July 14, 1981. (Affidavit in Opposition of Motion to Set Aside Judgment, Default Certificate and Judgment by Default).

On August 13, 1981, defendant-appellant filed a motion to set aside the judgment and noticed said motion for argument on the 18th day of August, 1981, at 2:00 o'clock p.m. The court ruled that notice of the motion did not comply with the rules as to time and, therefore, ruled that defendant-appellant would have renote of his motion to set aside the judgment. (Transcript of August 18, 1981, p. 7, lines 7 through 11).

A hearing on a supplementary order was set for the same day before the Honorable G. Hal Taylor and defendant-appellant was then and there sworn under oath to answer questions concerning the disposition of the settlement funds. He admitted under oath the fee arrangement and acknowledged his endorsement of the settlement draft as the "Attorney in Law and in Fact" of the State of Utah Office of Recovery Services but thereafter took the Fifth Amendment on all other questions regarding the funds obtained from the settlement draft. (Transcript of Hearing on August 18, 1981).

Defendant-appellant was ordered to appear on the 3rd day of November, 1981, at 2:00 o'clock p.m. before the court of the Third Judicial District, Salt Lake County, Utah, in Civil Case No. C-81-4425, to then and there show cause, which order to show cause was supported by an affidavit. Defendant-appellant did not file a counter-affidavit, nor did he offer to counter any of the statements in the supporting affidavit by sworn testimony. (Motion, Affidavit and Order to Show Cause).

The motion of defendant-appellant to set aside the default judgment was not noticed up on November 3, 1981, when the order to show cause was heard by the Honorable G. Hal Taylor; however, counsel for plaintiff-respondent agreed to waive the notice requirement and the court thereafter heard oral argument on the motion to set aside the judgment from both counsel. Upon conclusion of the oral argument, the court denied the motion of defendant-appellant to set aside the default judgment on the grounds that the purported answer did not state a defense and entered its order accordingly, from which order defendant-appellant appeals. (Transcript of Hearing of November 3, 1981).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

REFUSAL OF LOWER COURT TO SET ASIDE THE
DEFAULT JUDGMENT DID NOT CONSTITUTE ABUSE
OF DISCRETION IN VIEW OF DEFENDANT-
APPELLANT'S FAILURE TO PROFFER ANY
MERITORIOUS DEFENSE.

One of the prerequisites for grounds to set aside a judgment by default is the showing by the defendant that he has a valid and meritorious defense to the claims of the plaintiff.

While the defendant-appellant in the instant case directed his argument in the lower court, for the most part, on the "excusable neglect" provisions of Rule 60(b)(1), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, the court in its ruling addressed itself only to the requirement that the defendant must proffer a meritorious defense to the plaintiff's complaint, a question of law.

This principle of law was recently stated by this court in the case of Downey State Bank v. Major-Blakeney Corporation, 545 P.2d 507 (1976), wherein this court ruled in referring to the defendant-appellant in that case:

A primary difficulty he confronts is that, as a general proposition one who seeks to vacate a default judgment must proffer some defense of at least ostensible merit as would justify a trial of the issue thus raised. As the trial court appropriately remarked on this point: the defendant failed to proffer any meritorious defense, or in fact any defense at all.

The theory of law as pronounced by this court in the Downey State Bank case, supra, was followed by this court in the recent case of Bawden and Associates, et al. v. Alvin R. Smith, et al., 624 P.2d 676 (1981).

In the instant case there is no dispute on the basic facts as alleged in the complaint. The plaintiff paid under a Medicaid grant the total sum of \$82,522.22 to medical providers who had rendered medical care to Linda Ann Coram as a direct result of allegedly being improperly treated for allergy. Linda Ann Coram retained D. John Musselman to represent her in a malpractice claim for her injuries and prior to filing the lawsuit D. John Musselman by letter inquired of the State's right of recovery and thereafter recognized the State's right to recover the said sum of \$82,522.22 and claimed a fee of 25% of said sum as attorney's fees.

Prior to trial, a settlement of \$150,000.00 was effected and two separate drafts were issued by the insurance company. The draft for \$82,522.22 which carried the name of the "State of Utah Office of Recovery Services," as one of the payees was personally endorsed by all the named payees except as to the State of Utah and, as to that payee, D. John Musselman himself endorsed that payee's name and signed it as "its attorney in law and in fact." He, thereafter, deposited said draft in his trust account and failed to account to the State of Utah for any such funds.

In his proposed "answer" the defendant-appellant admits to all the material allegations in the complaint. He admits the amount of the Medicaid assistance; he admits the written assignment by Linda Ann Coram to the State of Utah of the right to recover the said Medicaid payments as against a third party; he admits that in 1979 the Medical Benefits Recovery Act took effect, and, finally, he admits knowing of the right of the plaintiff-respondent to recover the said Medicaid payments.

In the supplemental order hearing before Judge G. Hal Taylor the defendant-appellant was examined under oath and admitted the genuineness of the \$82,522.22 settlement draft and his endorsement on the draft as the attorney for the State of Utah Office of Recovery Services and in his proposed "answer" he admits receiving the settlement, as alleged in the complaint, and that he notified the Department "that he had withheld the sum of \$60,000.00 pending settlement with the Department.....," thereby admitting that he had negotiated the settlement draft on which the state was named as a payee and which draft he endorsed as the attorney for the State of Utah.

The second defense as pleaded in the proposed "answer," wherein are set forth the admissions and denials to the allegations of the complaint, certainly does not set forth a meritorious defense to the plaintiff's complaint as shown by the entire record before this Honorable Court.

POINT II

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT IS ESTOPPED FROM RAISING ANY OF HIS ALLEGED DEFENSES AS SET FORTH IN HIS PROPOSED ANSWER TO THE COMPLAINT.

The proposed answer of defendant-appellant sets forth a third, fourth, fifth and sixth defense. Each of these defenses is asserted from the position that defendant-appellant owes no fiduciary duty to plaintiff-respondent on the facts in the record of the instant case.

Once defendant-appellant signed the settlement draft as "attorney at law and in fact" for the State of Utah Office of Recovery Services, he is estopped from asserting any defense which would be inimical and repugnant to his duty to the client (State of Utah) whom he purports to represent in such endorsing act. It would violate all principles of equity to allow an attorney by an overt act, such as endorsing a draft as the attorney for the payee, to obtain control of the payee's funds and thereafter be heard to say that he was not the payee's attorney, particularly after he had loaned out the major portion of the funds to a third party in his (the attorney's) own name, expecting to reap an unconscionable return thereon for his own benefit. Furthermore, the sixth defense which is raised by defendant-appellant is available only to the Medicaid recipient, Linda Coram, who is not a party to this action and whom defendant-appellant does not purport to be representing in the instant case.

The position of defendant-appellant is incongruous. Once he endorsed the settlement draft as the "attorney at law and in fact" of the plaintiff-respondent he obtained control of the funds as a fiduciary of that named payee and should, therefore, be held to the strict rules of accounting to his principal for the funds thus collected and held.

POINT III

THE DENIAL OF THE MOTION TO SET ASIDE THE
DEFAULT JUDGMENT WAS NOT AN ABUSE OF
DISCRETION AND SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.

The lower court in denying the motion to set aside the default judgment did so on an issue of law. It had before it the uncontroverted affidavits of the plaintiff-respondent, setting forth the right of plaintiff-respondent to the funds and of defendant-appellant's conduct in obtaining control of the funds as a fiduciary and his subsequent misuse of these funds. The court in its ruling made no mention of the issue of excusable neglect. However, since the brief of defendant-appellant addresses this issue it will be discussed briefly.

This court, many times, has stated that the trial court has a discretion in determining whether to set aside a default judgment and the determination should only be reversed by this court for an abuse of discretion that is arbitrary, capricious and not based on adequate findings of fact or on law.

Pacer Sports and Cycle, Inc. v. Frank Myers,
534 P.2d 616 (1975)

Airkem Intermountain, Inc., et al. v. Parker,
513 P.2d 429 (1973)

American Savings and Loan Ass'n v. Pierce, et al.,
498 P.2d 648 (1972)

Board of Education of Granite School District v.
Cox, 384 P.2d 806 (1963)

In defendant-appellant's motion and argument to set aside the judgment, he asserted that he was in the hospital for a stomach disorder from June 29, 1981 to July 4, 1981, a period of five days. He did not support this statement with any documentation nor did he counter the affidavit which stated that on the 6th day of July, 1981, he was contacted on the telephone by George Martindale, Investigator for the Office of Recovery Services, and told that unless he immediately contact the attorney for the State and ask for more time or account and settle, a default would be entered and judgment by default taken. Nor did he counter the affidavit which stated that numerous times after the filing of the law suit defendant-appellant asserted that he would account to the State and pay the State its money recovered in the settlement, which promises he never kept.

It appears obvious from the history of this case and the record before this court that the defendant-appellant, having loaned fifty thousand dollars (\$50,000.00) of the settlement funds to a farmer in Idaho at an interest rate of

180% per annum (15% per month), was stalling for sufficient time in order to realize a return of approximately thirty thousand dollars (\$30,000.00) for four months of accrued interest upon the repayment of the said loan, thus providing ample funds back in the trust account to fully account to the State on the settlement funds.

The default judgment and subsequent proceedings before this court frustrated the scheme and brought to light the actions and conduct of defendant-appellant, thereby preventing the usage of the recovery funds to cover the shortage in the trust account. Although all of these facts came to light subsequent to the entry of the default judgment, they were all in the record at the time the court heard argument on the motion and ruled that the proposed answer did not state a valid defense to the State's right to recover as against the defendant-appellant.

CONCLUSION

Most of the record on appeal in the instant case was made before the lower court, Judge G. Hal Taylor, presiding, after the default judgment was entered by Judge Homer F. Wilkinson. The uncontroverted facts in the record on appeal as shown by affidavits and the sworn testimony of defendant-appellant fail to clearly demonstrate excusable neglect but the record clearly shows that there is no meritorious defense which is or can be asserted by defendant-appellant to justify

a setting-aside of the default judgment and a trial on the issues raised by the defendant-appellant in his proffered "answer." The court should, on the basis of the foregoing facts and the law, affirm the decision of the lower court and enter judgment accordingly.